1978

Melvin A. Cook and Wanda O. Cook v. Noel L. Cook : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs - Respondents, Melvin A, Cook and Wanda G Cook, his wife, brought an action in two counts against Appellant. One count was to foreclose on a mortgage on the real property of the Appellant. The Respondents joined as defendants in this action. Lien holders Vera O. Cook (Baacher); Thomson Electrical Co.; Lila A. Cook, Janis B. Smith and Martin Smith as guardians ad litem for Cameron R. John, a minor; and Credit Bureau of Logan. Defendants answered setting forth docketed claims. In addition Defendant Vera O. Cook cross- claimed for support payments due since she last docketed a judgment for same.

In the second count Plaintiffs - Respondence set forth a claim for money lend to Appellant, which Appellant denied in his answer, but now concedes admitting to have paid twenty five hundred of this money to Respondents in one lump sum.

RELIEF SOUGHT

Appellant motions for a new trial on all issues and before all litigants and in addition requests the Court to consider Newly Discovered Evidence.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Trial Judge, Honorable VeNoy Christoffersen, found that Respondents were entitled to foreclose mortgage, and ordered a sale and set forth the priorities of lien holders. Additionally the Court granted Plaintiffs Respondents motion for partial summary judgment on the second count for money lent, and granted Co-Defendant Vera O. Cook's cross claim for past due support payments. These judgments were added to the list of liens against the Appellant's property.

Appellant had judgment set-aside for investigation of fraud. The judge sustained the judgment ruling on affidavits only. A new sheriff sale was set and executed, funds distributed with notice of need of return of same in event a new trial led to reversal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant has had difficulty engaging dependable counsel to represent him due to indigent circumstances. On the occasion of the foreclosure his legal council was not informed of the facts thus appellant was stipulated to facts adverse to his case and contrary to his pleadings.

Appellant is a farmer owning land irrigating 80 acres in Box Elder Co.

On May 22, 1972 Respondent loaned \$12,500.00 to Appellant to pay off existing debts. This note was retired marked "paid" and in 1973 a new note was drawn up by Respondent for \$13,000.00 to be repaid over a ten year period. In newly discovered evidence a third and subsequent mortgage was found in the form of an extension of time agreement or a new modus operandi.

Only the second of these mortgages was considered before the court as follows:

This mortgage is given to secure the following indebtedness: Note on

loan to N.L. Cook of Thirteen Thousand and No/100 Dollars, said note carrying a date of May 22, 1972 and carrying a rate of 6% interest per annum to be paid in ten equal installments at the rate of \$1300.00 per year simple interest payable quarterly.

The Mortgagor agrees to pay all taxes and assessments on said premises and a reasonable attorney's fee in case of foreclosure. See Respondents exhibit "D"

Thus we see that this mortgage gave no right to accelerate the payments in case of default.

In 1973 a hail storm totally destroyed the crops of Appellant who at the same time was refused further credit by Respondent in which to purchase needed sprinkler equipment. Neither would Respondent accept full return of the loan when tendered by way of a Federal Land Bank loan. Under these conditions the Appellant tried unsuccessfully to flood irrigate sandy land during 1973-74. In the spring of 1975 Appellant leased his farm for three years.

In 1974 Respondent loaned Appellant additional funds in which to purchase main line buried and permanent 8" plastic pipe, and (\$2,500.00 of which was repaid in one lump sum.) The Appellant had also made some interest payments on the first loan as shown by exhibit

In this time of hardship Respondent did not press for payments and refused to accept offer of Appellant to return the loan in full with all interest in 1974 and again in 1975. In each case the tender was rejected by Respondent when he replied: "No, I don't need the money."

This failure to require payment continued by various waivers and refusals for another three years.

On January 8, 1976 in a newly discovered letter from Respondent to the Appellant he repeated his past lienency by writing:

"We want you to clear up all your debts as rapidly as possible and then it will be time enough for you to start paying us off." Signed Mel and Wanda.

Appellant accepted this forbearance acting on it and implementing its terms as evidenced by a large supply of canceled checks to pay farm costs and

pressing obligations. At the same time Appellant trusted word of Respondent that they would wait until other creditors were paid first. A Chattel Mortgage was given by Appellant unsolicited to Respondent as further evidence of his intention to complete an equitable settlement of all claims. This was accepted by the Respondent in the same spirit. It then became mandatory for Respondent to sign each and every check from the farm production which he faithfully did from 1975 thru 1977 handing the check back to Appellant each time saying: "Here, go and pay other people first."

During this period Appellant had to rely on his working wife for household expenses traveling to the farm in a 1963 Ford pick-up truck using funds only to recover from the losses from the hail storm and to pay pressing notes and bills. Even while exercising extreme frugality farm taxes went unpaid for 1976 adding two payments with added costs which were finally made in November of 1977 all of which was an added worry to the Appellant.

Under these conditions creditors whose payments were unfulfilled docketed Respondents foreclosure or were sued in and among the foremost was his ex-wife, Vera O. Cook(Baacher), who has been well employed at around \$15,000.00 per year.

Appellant was unable to get other work due to his age of sixty years and the necessity to work during the spring, summer and fall on the farm. The year 1975 was a good one as lessee spent his full time on lessors land, but in 1976 and 1977 production was a disappointment since lessee took the most of the water from the irrigation well to his adjacent land leaving Appellant's land short on irrigation water resulting in low production.

In the late fall of 1976 the Appellant was jailed for contempt for his failure to consistently pay child support while he claims they were paid at least in part for many months during this period. Upon his release on afternoon of December 10, 1976 he went directly to obtain council of attorney Omer Call of Brigham City who took the case on condition that Appellant would come Monday morning December 13, 1976 and spend the day in preparation for the hearing

Respondent Melvin A. Cook did in fact phone Appellant at exactly 6:00 a.m. on December 13, 1976 stating emphatically thus: "THERE WILL BE NO FORECLOSURE... come to Salt Lake City now and I will loan you sixty thousand dollars to be repaid in a year by your refinancing. Bring your farm deed and your wife Helen as she will need to sign papers." Appellant responded with the following: "That is good news. I don't have a deed just now but I do have an abstract of title from which a deed could be made." To this the Respondent replied: "Then bring that." Appellant said: "I have engaged an attorney for the hearing shall I release him?" The Respondent, Melvin A Cook replied: "You might as well."

Within two hours time and at the Cross-road Texico Service Station south intersection in Brigham City Appellant phoned attorney Call who said: " I'm glad to hear that there will be no foreclosure since I have had no time to look at the case and I am in no way prepared for the trial had it been held tomorrow."

Appellants then went directly to Respondents office in the Beneficial Life Tower 35 South State Street placing the Abstract of Title directly in the hand of the Respondent who placed it in the right hand drawer of his desk. Appellant returned to the same office some three weeks later for the express purpose of recovering his abstract of title and this time it was located in the office of Respondents Attorney across the hall in the same building.

Nothing but hollow promises and delaying tactics proceeded throughout the remainder of the day to the effect that matters so important as had been promised needed time to work them out. This Appellant clearly understood trusting explicitly in a long standing fiduciary relationship with the respondent. At length Respondent said his council was in Coalville and he had called and would not be back to Salt Lake until 11:00 p.m. and it then would be necessary for the Appellants to remain overnight at the home of the Respondents for the first time in history. His council did not return that night at all and about 9:00 a.m. December 14, 1976 Respondent announced: "I

seemed obvious rushed to Brigham City Court house entering confused, disoriented, surprised, uninformed as to their legal rights and entered the courthouse without council of any kind.

Of these happenings Respondent has faithfully denied in continuous effort to defend the judgment he seized that day by circumvention.

Later Appellant shall demonstrate that basic contradictions do in fact exist in signed statements by letter and under Court Oath in Respondents Counter-Affidavit presented before the Court of Box Elder County March 10, 1978. On that occasion the District Judge had openly announced earlier that judgment would be by affidavit only, that testimony would not be allowed nor would the Appellant be permitted to cross-examine the Respondent. Since this was the essence of Appellants defense action to obtain permission for certain subpoena information defendant-Appellant was thus severely penalized.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

Appellant was denied his constitutional rights to a fair trial when the Plaintiff-Respondent circumvented the law, practiced fraud upon the court, misled the Appellant by use of artifice or trick representing that he need not prepare for the hearing as there would be none, seizing a judgment and otherwise generally making a mockery of justice.

When Appellant realized he had been deceived by what he thought was a loyal brother he immediately objected by using the word "trick" in a request for a new trial. The exact happenings of December 13 and 14th 1976 are made available for careful study

Appellant now seeks a new trial based on perjured affidavits before the Court and on Newly Discovered Evidence contained in an amendment which was rejected by the district judge. This rejection was contrary to the spirit of federal rules of civil procedure which permits amendments of a material nature to be accepted " anytime".

POINT II

Motivation prompting this court to address to the court the facts and other litigants found

fatal defect appearing on the face of the mortgage.

Motivated by the fact that acceleration of the entire amount of the Mortgage was contrary to the terms of the mortgage and thus improper as a matter of law Respondent and other litigants acted to prevent presentation of available defense by Appellant by means of deception and false imprisonment having never investigated claims of Appellant that he was in very deed without means to support himself during this, his economic depression. The actions of Respondent on December 13th and 14th 1976 are thought to have been motivated not only by what has already been related but by a desire to prevent Appellant from seeking and obtaining a continuance following his 30 days in jail.

The initial note of May 22, 1972 was exchanged on November 30, 1973 for a Mortgage with installment payments and an express provision for foreclosure upon default. Thus the parties modified the original note by a subsequent agreement. This subsequent agreement while providing for foreclosure did not provide for acceleration of payment upon default.

Upon failure to provide for such a right no right exists. In Bank v. Boherty 29 Wash. 233, 69 P. 732 (1902) the Court held that where no provision in the contract for acceleration of principal upon failure to pay interest that no right to acceleration and subsequent foreclosure could exist because of failure to pay interest. See generally 54 A.L.R. 1230

In Walker Bank and Trust Company v. Neilson, 26 Utah 2d 383, 490 P. 2d 328 (1971) this Court said that an acceleration clause was not self-executing, but that it was the mortgage option to declare the full amount due. Since an existent acceleration clause cannot operate unless exercised, one certainly cannot be imposed when it does not exist. This is an axiom to the proposition that there can be no default until after the amount is due. Thus, the foreclosure by the Respondent if proper at all should have been limited as a matter of law to an action for amounts then owing and should not have been allowed for amounts not yet due.

POINT III

A statutory question is involved in a waiver or extension of time agreement submitted as Newly Discovered Evidence since it was accepted by Appellant, was totally implemented, later forgotten having eluded thorough search by Appellant and his family as they sought all memoranda, papers, letters and etc. related to the case. This particular letter was not remembered at the trial and was not recalled again until it was actually discovered after the trial.

This Extension of Time agreement appeared in this letter dated January 8, 1976 and took the form of a new contract or new modus operandi and the latest dated and is thus stated in clear and unquestionable terms as follows: "We want you to clear up all your debts as rapidly as possible, then it will be time enough for you to start paying us off." Record P. 129. Three months later Respondent declared the entire amount due and subject to foreclosure. The Appellant was surprised and because of the short time and the amounts accelerated he could not then tender the amount due.

The District Court erred in not holding that by such continual forbearance the Respondent thus waived their right if any existed to accelerate the amount due and to foreclose the property.

In American Savings and Loan Assoc. v. Blomquist, 21 Utah 2d 239, 445 P.2d 1968, this Court said that a waiver of the default may preclude the party from acceleration of the indebtedness. Although in that case there was no basis for the claim of waiver, but in this case there was substantial evidence to show that the Respondents did in fact waive the default. The rule expressed by Blomquist supra is that a waiver must be an intentional relinquishment of a known right, distinctly made expressly or impliedly.

The letter of January 8, 1976, expressly waives the default for the present and for sometime in the future. The four year period of forbearance without demand, but with reassurances is of itself significant evidence of a waiver. The refusal of tendered payments or full repayment in 1974 and again 1975 are

further evidence of Respondents intent to waive the debt.

In the winter of 1976 a time when the money earned from the farm was spent, the Appellant was in a position of having relied on the waiver and was unable to cure his default after the acceleration was made. The waiver having been definite then, as a matter of equity and according to Blomquist, supra the Respondent should have been estopped from accelerating the amounts due and from thus benefiting from their past waiver of complaine. Payments were due yearly in May and having waived them in early 1976 Respondent should have given until May 1977 before default and foreclosure could be sought. The waiver having been definite, knowing and intentional there was no right to demand payment at that time, and no right to accelerate the debt(had the agreement provided for such a remedy which it did not.)

This rule is consistent with that of other jurisdictions. In Cambell v. Werner, Fla.232 So. 2d (252) (1970) the Court citing cases said:

The decisions disclose that foreclosure on an accelerated basis may be denied where the right to accelerate has been waived or the mortgagee estopped to assert it, because of conduct of the mortgagee from which the mortgagor..reasonably could assume that the mortgagee, for or upon a certain default, would not elect to declare the full mortgage indebtedness to be due and payable or foreclose therefor;....

In D'Orazio v Mascianto, 345 Pa. 428, 29 A 2d 43. (1942) the Court held the mortgagee was precluded from foreclosing the mortgage by a written agreement allowing the principal to be paid when able if the interest were paid.

Waiver by agreement has been found to be effective as to past defaults or to those occurring before notice has been given of an intention to insist upon strict performance in the future. See 148 A.L.R. 686 at 690 citing cases.e.g. Lettereri v. Mistretta 102 N.J. Eq 1, 139 A 514 (1927) where an oral agreement for payment of interest semi- annually instead of quarterly waived the right to require quarterly payments without giving notice of intent to insist on strict performance. See also 97 A.L.R. 2 d 9 38 at 1007 and case cited.

Appellant was given no notice of an intention to depart from the past acts of forbearance, or from the waiver notice given in the letter of that year. Thus, there was no right to foreclose based on the past defaults, those defaults having

Sponsored by the U.S. Judicial Branch, Washington, D.C. Digitized by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

been waived, and no notice of strict performance in payment of interest or of payments having been given.

Extension of Time is binding on mortgagee and may be asserted by mortgagee as well as by the purchaser of the mortgaged property who has assumed the mortgaged debt. 115 A.L.R. 1038, 1054, 1055 To give such an Extension of Time and then to foreclose is tantamount to fraud 115 A.L.R. 1038. This is especially true where Appellant offered to pay the debt, accepted the extension, acted on using his means to abide by its terms,

Demand note came due after first default in payment. Respondent did nothing about it for four years then before the term of the mortgage the Respondent was a newly created situation had a legal right to then and there foreclose, but instead of insisting upon that right, he entered into a written concession for the payment of the balance due which concession contained within itself the conditions upon which parties on the one side extended and on the other side accepted the concessions which created a new modus operandi. See 115 A.L.R. 1054 By such representation to the effect that the time to pay was to be extended, he may not thus take advantage of him by declaring the whole mortgage due. It would be contrary to equity and good conscience to allow such a result. This would be especially true where mortgagor offered to pay the mortgage. See 124 A.L.R. 1051

Appellant used reasonable diligence to discover and produce evidence at the trial. Failure to do so was not the result of negligence and had the newly discovered evidence been before the court in all likelihood the verdict would have been different.

Due to a series of unavoidable circumstances surrounding the trial Appellant was surprised, misled, and acted contrary to what he otherwise would have done relying on a strong fiduciary and confidential relationship to the effect that there would be no foreclosure and was injured thereby.

Under Utah Code Rule 59 (a) an insufficiency of evidence where verdict was plainly wrong in light of newly discovered evidence sufficient to materially affect results in a new trial warrants Court to set aside the verdict judgment and grant a new trial. People v. Swazer, 5 Utah 93, 21 P. 400; U.S. v. Brown, 6 Idaho

POINT IV

Perjured testimony under oath and evidences of misconduct of other litigants is brought out in the following counter-affidavit before the Court.

"I am pleased that you are taking considerable pride in making your farm venture pay off, and especially what you have done with Boyd Marble..to get everything under Boyd and raise such a fine, large beet crop. I surely wish you success." See Par 3 of Letter dated January 8, 1976

In contrast: "Prior to January 1976, plaintiffs were aware that defendant Noel L. Cook was not managing and farming said real property in such a manner as to enable him to pay his debts and plaintiffs did encourage said defendant to pay his other debts before paying plaintiffs...." See par. 12 Respondents Counter Affid.

Thus we see the waiver supported again but two opposing points of view.

Again Appellant represented in reviewing happenings of December 13, 1976 that Respondent requested bringing the Abstract of Title to Salt Lake City placing it in the very hand of Respondent at his office. In Respondents Counter-affidavit he states: "When affiant asked defendants if they had brought title to their property with them, Noel L. Cook said that he could not find it."

This was a perjured statement since it had been discussed earlier that day and why the question at all if Respondent had not been informed earlier that day as to a new course of action and the need for the title. The district court totally failed to put together the simplest construction which is one main assigned duties of courts of equity when real property is involved.

Another example of perjured testimony Respondent said: None of the sums loaned by plaintiffs to defendant Noell. Cook as aforesaid were repaid and on or about the 25th of March, 1976 plaintiffs filed suit against defendant Noel L. Cook and the other parties above named seeking in Count I of their complaint to foreclose the mortgages referred to in par. 3 and 4 hereof and in Count II to collect the amount referred to in paragraphs 5 hereof." See par 6 Counter Affid.

Amounts paid are on exhibit The latest agreement was a waiver or extension of time.

Thereafter, plaintiffs learned through discussions with creditors of

Defendant Noell. Cook that said defendant was not paying his debts..." See par 14 c.a.
Sponsored by the S.S. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Verification by canceled checks should be proof sufficient that
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

money coming to Appellant was being used to pay his bills.

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