1978

Melvin A. Cook and Wanda O. Cook v. Noel L. Cook : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Point I

THIS APPEAL FROM THE PARTIAL SUMMARY
JUDGMENT ENTERED ON DECEMBER 27, 1976
WAS NOT TIMELY FILED.

This appeal is taken by Defendant "from the judgment entered into this action on March 27, 1978 and partial judgment entered on December 27, 1976." Record at 347. Since there was no judgment entered on March 27, 1978, Plaintiffs assume that Defendant is referring to the order denying motion of Defendants Noel L. Cook and Helen Cook to vacate judgment and order vacating temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction which was entered on March 29, 1978. Record at 311-313. The "partial judgment" entered on December 27, 1976, is the partial summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and against Defendant Noel L. Cook on Count II of Plaintiffs' Complaint which was entered on December 27, 1976. Record at 086-088.

Rule 73(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides in relevant part:

When an appeal is permitted from a district court to the Supreme Court, the time within which an appeal may be taken shall be one month from the entry of the judgment or order appealed from unless a shorter time is provided by law, except that upon a showing of excusable neglect

based on a failure of a party to learn of the entry of the judgment the district court in any action may extend the time for appeal not exceeding one month from the expiration of the original time herein prescribed. The running of the time for appeal is terminated by a timely motion made pursuant to any of the rules hereinafter enumerated, and the full time for appeal fixed in this subdivision commences to run and is to be computed from the entry in the minutes of any of the following orders made upon a timely motion under such rules: granting or denying a motion for judgment under Rule 50(b), or granting or denying a motion for judgment under Rule 52(b) to amend or make additional findings of fact, whether or not an alteration of the judgment would be required if the motion is granted; or granting or denying a motion under Rule 59 to alter or amend the judgment; or denying a motion for a new trial under Rule 59.

Each motion referred to in Rule 73(a), as aforesaid, to be timely, must be filed within ten days after entry of the judgment or order in question.

The partial summary judgment from which Defendant now appeals was entered on December 27, 1976 and an order denying Defendant's motion for a new trial was entered on March 30, 1977. None of the other motions referred to in Rule 73(a) was timely filed by Defendant and the time for Defendant to appeal from said partial summary judgment expires

on May 2, 1977, a Monday. Since this appeal was not filed until April 25, 1978, it was not timely and should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. Ratliff, Estate of, v. Conrad, 19 Utah 2d 346, 431 P.2d 571.

Point II

THIS COURT HAS ALREADY HELD THAT THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON COUNT II OF PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT WAS PROPERLY GRANTED.

In Count II of their Complaint Plaintiffs allege:

Defendant Noel L. Cook owes Plaintiffs \$3,944.68 for money lent by Plaintiffs to said Defendant on or about the 1st day of June, 1974, and the 14th day of November, 1974. Record at 004.

In his answer to Plaintiffs' Complaint Defendant alleges:

Defendant denies having received \$3,944.00 in June or November, 1974, as this case has gone to appeal. Record at 025.

On December 1, 1976, Plaintiffs filed a motion for partial summary judgment against Defendant on Count II of their Complaint and supported their motion with an affidavit and memorandum of points and authorities. Record at 075-083. No counter-affidavits or memoranda were filed by Defendant and during the trial of this action Defendant, through counsel, stated that he had no objection to the

granting of the motion. Transcript at 48. On Defendant's first appeal, this Court, relying on Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Clegg v. Lee, 30 Utah 2d 242, 516 P.2d 348 (1973), observed and held,

Plaintiff Melvin moved for summary judgment on his cause of action for \$3,944 and filed an affidavit in support thereof. Before the motion was heard trial began, at which time the motion was renewed. Noel, who was represented by counsel at trial, did not object, nor did he file an affidavit or offer anything in opposition to plaintiff's contention. The judgment on that count was therefore properly granted. Record at 179.

Point III

THIS COURT HAS ALREADY PROPERLY HELD THAT DEFENDANT CANNOT AVAIL HIMSELF OF THE DEFENSES OF WAIVER AND IMPROPER ACCELERATION OF THE MORTGAGE DUE DATE AND THAT DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING HIS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WAS WITHOUT MERIT.

Although Defendant states in his Notice of Appeal that he appeals from the order denying his motion to vacate judgment which was entered on March 29, 1978, he argues in his brief that Plaintiffs waived their right to collect on the obligation described in Count I of their Complaint, that acceleration of the mortgage due date was improper and that the Trial Court erred in denying his motion for

a new trial on March 30, 1977, all of which he argued on his first appeal. Brief of Defendant - Appellant at 6-17; Brief of Defendant - Appellant on first appeal.

In Count I of their Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that the sum of Thirteen Thousand Dollars (\$13,000.00), together with interest, attorney's fees and costs, is now due and payable by Defendant to Plaintiffs, that no part thereof has been paid notwithstanding the fact that Plaintiffs have demanded payment and that the Court should determine the amount due and owing, order that Plaintiffs' security interest be foreclosed and that the property be sold as provided by law to satisfy said amount and accruing costs. Record at 001-005. In his answer to Count I of Plaintiffs' Complaint Defendant concedes all of the allegations thereof. Record at 025.

In this appeal, as in the first appeal, Defendant claims that Plaintiffs waived prompt payment when due and that acceleration of the mortgage due date was improper. In affirming the judgment of the Trial Court on the first appeal, this Court observed and held:

On this appeal defendant attacks the judgment and decree of foreclosure on two grounds: (1) that plaintiffs had previously waived prompt payments when due and (2) that acceleration of the mortgage due date was improper.

Concerning those contentions these observations are pertinent: In his answer to the mortgage foreclosure count, the defendant had not only stated "Conceded" but had failed to plead the two affirmative defenses he now attempts to raise. Inasmuch as those issues were neither presented nor tried in the district court, there is no basis upon which we could consider them on appeal. Record at 179.

In his first appeal, Defendant contended that the Trial Court erred in denying his motion for a new trial, having based his motion on claims of irregularity in the proceedings of the Trial Court, or adverse party, accident or surprise which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against, and newly discovered evidence which could not with reasonable diligence have been discovered and produced at trial. Brief of Defendant - Appellant on first appeal at 11. On this claim this Court held:

Defendant's claim that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a new trial is without merit. He failed to meet any requirement of Rule 59, U.R. C.P. requisite to the granting of a new trial. Record at 179.

Defendant reasserts on this appeal that he should have been given a new trial and bases his assertion on the same claims. Brief of Appellant - Defendant at 15. In support of his claims he states that the Trial Court abused its discretion in the following particulars:

- a. Judge refused to accept an only amendment which violates the spirit of the federal rules of civil procedure.
- b. At no time was Appellant permitted to take witness stand to present an available defense.
- c. The judge refused the Appellant opportunity sought to cross-examine the Respondent in set-aside hearing on fraud without a jury where the sole purpose was to obtain permission of Respondent for certain subpoena information essential to his defense.
- d. The judge made little effort at simple construction of circumstantial evidence in possible fraud which violates the principal duty of courts of equity dealing with real property.
- e. Early in the hearing the judge stated that he was ready at that time to rule on the case thus pointing up possible bias, prejudice and which he was not able to overcome.

There is no support in the record or in fact for the foregoing. If it is Defendant's position that he should be given a new trial on the hearing on his motion to vacate judgment, then his position is wholly without merit. No motion for a new trial was ever filed, and if the motions filed on and after April 11, 1978, are construed as motions for a new trial they were not timely filed under Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure since they were filed more than ten (10) days after entry of the order denying the motion to

vacate judgment on March 29, 1978. Only the "writ of injunction" filed by Defendant on March 31, 1978, would be timely and no request is made therein for a new trial.

Point IV

DEFENDANT FAILED TO SEEK EQUITABLE RELIEF FROM THE FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT WITHIN THREE MONTHS AFTER THE JUDGMENT WAS ENTERED AND IS AFFORDED NO REMEDY UNDER THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT.

On February 13, 1978, Defendant filed with the Trial Court, a motion to vacate judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b) (3) and (7) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure alleging as grounds therefor that fraud and misrepresentation had been committed by Plaintiffs in obtaining the judgment. Record at 212-214. The judgments from which Defendant sought relief consisted of the partial summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and against Defendant Noel L. Cook on Count II of Plaintiffs' Complaint which was entered on December 27, 1978, and the decree of foreclosure which was entered on January 10, 1977. Record at 086-088 and 099-105.

Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) when, for any cause, the summons in an action has not been personally served upon the defendant as required by Rule 4(e) and the defendant has failed to appear in said action; (5) the judgment is void; (6) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (7) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), (3), or (4), not more than three months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. (Emphasis added)

This Court has held that such Motions are ineffective if made more than three months after the judgment is entered. McGavin v. McGavin, 27 Utah 2d 200, 494 P.2d 283 (1972); Shaw v. Pilcher, 9 Utah 2d 222, 341 P.2d 947 (1959).

The last judgment in this action was entered January 10, 1976, the date on which it was signed and filed. Record at 099-105. Rule 58A (c) of the Utah Rules

of Civil Procedure provides that a "judgment is complete and shall be deemed entered for all purposes, except the creation of a lien on real property, when the same is signed and filed as hereinabove provided." Thus, for purposes of Rule 60(b), Defendant had until April 10, 1977 to file his motion. By failing to do so, his February 13, 1978 motion was ineffective and was properly denied.

Defendant argued to the Trial Court that his filing of a timely appeal tolled the running of the time within which a Rule 60(b) motion could properly be filed. Rule 60 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was modeled after Rule 60 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. A distinction between the two rules is that the Federal Rule affords parties one year in which to attack a judgment on the grounds of mistake, newly discovered evidence, or fraud. Yet, in all other ways material to this action, the two rules are identical. In construing Rule 60 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Federal Courts have unanimously held that the filing of an appeal does not toll the period of time in which parties may attack a final judgment. Carr v. District of Columbia, 543 Fed. 2d 917 (D.C. Cir., 1976); Greater Boston Television Corporation v. F.C.C., 463 Fed. 2d 268 (D.C. Cir., 1971); Gulf Coast Building and Supply Company

Inc. v. International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local No. 458, A.F.L.-C.I.O., 460 Fed. 2d 105 (5th Cir., 1972); Lairsey v. Advance Abrasives Company, 542 Fed. 2d 928 (5th Cir., 1976). Under these decisions, a party attacking a final judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b) (3) (fraud) must file his motion within one year of the entry of the final judgment by the trial court or his motion is untimely. Moreover, it has been held that Clause 6 (which is identical to Clause 7 of the Utah Rule) and the first five clauses of Rule 60(b) are mutually exclusive with the result that Clause 6 affords no basis for relief at any time if available under either of the earlier clauses. Carr v. District of Columbia, supra.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trial Court read and examined the affidavits, memoranda and other documents and papers in the file, heard argument of counsel and concluded that there was no fraudulent representation or conduct on the part of the Plaintiffs or any other reason for which the judgment entered on January 10, 1977, should be vacated, and denied Defendant's motion. Record at 311-313.

The burden was upon the Defendant to prove fraud by clear and convincing evidence and the question as to

whether the evidence is clear and convincing is usually determined by the trier of the facts. Pace v. Parrish, 247 P.2d 273, 122 Utah 141 (1952); Condas v. Adams, 388 P.2d 803, 15 Utah 2d 132 (1964). Fraud is a wrong of such nature that it must be shown by clear and convincing proof and will not lie in mere suspicion or innuendo. Lundstrom v. Rodeo Corporation of America, 405 P.2d 339, 17 Utah 2d 114 (1965). The long standing rules of appellate procedure require this Court to view the evidence in a light most favorable to the prevailing party below and not to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court below on issues of fact determined from competent admissible evidence. Schwartz v. Tanner, 576 P.2d 873 (Utah, 1978). The Trial Court below properly ruled in this case that there was no fraud committed by Plaintiffs and no other reason for which the judgment should be vacated.

Point V

PLAINTIFFS SHOULD BE AWARDED ATTORNEY'S
FEES ARISING AS A RESULT OF THE DEFENSE
OF THIS APPEAL.

In the instant case the Defendant agreed to pay reasonable attorney's fees necessitated by legal action to enforce the note and to foreclose the mortgage. Record at

6, 8, 11. As the record clearly shows, the Plaintiffs brought suit in good faith to pursue their legal rights and prevailed in the lower court. Defendant's motion for a new trial was denied and this Court affirmed the judgment of the Trial Court on the first appeal. Defendant's motions following the first appeal and this second appeal constitute tactics calculated to delay and to deny Plaintiffs their legal rights and have resulted in burdening the Plaintiffs with the expenses necessary to defend Defendant's actions.